**RECEIVED**

**Dec 18 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Saluda County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEFFERY JAMES WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001481

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err in allowing appellant to represent himself at trial where the record shows the *Faretta* colloquy did not contain a sufficient warning regarding the dangers of self-representation and appellant therefore could not have knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 2018, a Saluda County grand jury indicted appellant for threatening a public official. R. 329. On August 26, 2019, appellant was tried before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, and a jury. R. 46.

Appellant proceeded to trial *pro se* with Bennett Casto as stand-by counsel. R. 46. Douglas Fender, assistant solicitor, represented the state. R. 46.

On August 28, 2019, the jury found appellant guilty as indicted. R. 311, ll. 14-16. Judge Addy sentenced appellant to five years' imprisonment. R. 326, ll. 6-8.

This appeal follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo.” *State v. Samuel*, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 287, 490 (2018).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing appellant to represent himself at trial where the record shows the *Faretta* colloquy did not contain a sufficient warning regarding the danger of self-representation and appellant therefore could not have knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel.

### **Introduction**

The state alleged that on August 10, 2018, appellant called the Saluda County Magistrate's Office and made threats of a sexual nature against Judge Joyce Schults. R. 28, ll. 20-24. When questioned, appellant told police he called the magistrate's office and that he was upset. R. 193, ll. 13-19. The same day, police arrested appellant and charged him with threatening a public official. R. 200, ll. 10-11.

### **Relevant facts**

On May 21, 2019, a motion for continuance was held before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV. R. 1. Dietrich Lake represented appellant, and Douglas Fender, assistant solicitor, represented the state. R. 1. At the hearing, Judge McLeod asked appellant if he wanted to represent himself and appellant responded unequivocally that he did not want to represent himself but that he was no longer satisfied with Counsel Lake's representation and would like to hire another attorney. R. 4, l. 13-5, l. 20.

The state objected to the continuance, arguing that appellant previously filed a speedy-trial motion and the state was prepared to try the case. R. 8, ll. 1-7. Defense counsel Lake told the court that he was "concerned" about appellant's mental health and whether appellant was able to assist in his own defense, and he requested appellant be evaluated to determine his competency to stand trial. R. 8, l. 20-9, l. 12. Counsel Lake and the solicitor referred to a prior

incident involving an “involuntary commitment” while appellant was being treated by the Department of Veterans Affairs. R. 10, ll. 3-8; 13, ll. 1-25; 17, ll. 4-14. At the end of the hearing Judge McLeod stated, “there seems to be a reasonable indication that the Department of Veterans Affairs has found [appellant] incompetent,” and he ordered a mental evaluation for appellant before trial. R. 17, ll. 5-24.

On August 6, 2019, defense counsel’s motion to be relieved and a *Faretta*<sup>1</sup> hearing were held before the Honorable Frank R. Addy. R. 20. Lake told the court that since the last hearing appellant had been evaluated and found to be competent. R. 24, ll. 19-20. No documents in support of that assertion were presented to the court. Lake moved to be relieved as counsel, telling the court that, although his relationship with appellant had been difficult for much of his representation, after the May hearing it had deteriorated severely. Appellant notified the state and the Bar that he wished Lake to be relieved as his counsel, even contacting the Office of Disciplinary Counsel and filing grievances against Counsel Lake. R. 24, l. 24-25, l. 12. Lake told the court he was “surprised” at the outcome of the competency evaluation and he still had concerns regarding appellant’s mental health. He believed appellant “need[ed] counsel.” R. 24, ll. 19-23; 25, ll. 23-25; 26, ll. 12-20.

During the *Faretta* colloquy, appellant agreed he wanted Lake relieved as counsel. R. 29, ll. 23-25. Appellant was forty-nine years old at the time. Regarding his education appellant said could read and write, he graduated from high school, and he joined the United States Marines, where he served for four years. R. 30, l. 18-31, l. 17. Appellant also stated he was being treated for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and took the following medications: Trazodone “for

---

<sup>1</sup> *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

sleep,” Prazosin “for nightmares,” and Prozac “for anxiety.”<sup>2</sup> R. 33, ll. 14-15; 34, l. 16-35, l. 22. Judge Addy inquired if appellant had any prior experience with criminal trials, and appellant responded that he had a prior conviction from 1999 and he had been recently released after serving eighteen years of a twenty-year sentence. R. 37, ll. 1-23.

When Judge Addy asked appellant if he wanted to represent himself, appellant at first agreed that he did but later in the hearing indicated that his sister was looking for a lawyer that would take his case pro bono. R. 32, ll. 16-18; 36, ll. 4-10. Judge Addy asked appellant whether he had the resources to retain another attorney and appellant said he did not. Appellant also told the court he did not want to have another attorney appointed to him but agreed that Judge Addy could appoint Bennett Casto to “help him” at trial. R. 40, ll. 9-24; 42, l. 23-43, l. 5. Judge Addy stated, “you realize, again, I think it’s a good idea that you have a lawyer” and advised appellant two times that if he decided to represent himself he would be held to the same standard as a lawyer. R. 32, ll. 20-23; 41, ll. 2-8. Ultimately, Judge Addy allowed appellant to proceed *pro se* at trial with Mr. Casto as “stand-by” counsel. R. 43, ll. 8-25.

## **Discussion**

*Faretta* requires the accused be: (1) advised of his right to counsel; and (2) adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975); *Bridwell v. State*, 306 S.C. 518, 413 S.E.2d 30 (1992). In the absence of a specific inquiry by the trial judge addressing the disadvantages of proceeding *pro se*, this Court will look to the record to determine whether petitioner had sufficient background or was apprised of his rights by some other source. *Prince v. State*, 301 S.C. 422, 392 S.E.2d 462 (1990); *Wroten v. State*, 301 S.C.

---

<sup>2</sup> Trazodone is an antidepressant. Prazosin is used to treat high blood pressure. Prozac is used to treat depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, bulimia nervosa, premenstrual dysphoric disorder, and panic disorder. All information found at mayoclinic.org.

293, 391 S.E.2d 575 (1990). “The burden is on the state to demonstrate the validity of a defendant’s waiver of his right to counsel.” *State v. Dial*, 429 S.C. 128, 133, 838 S.E.2d 501, 504 (2020) (citing *Brewer v. Williams*, 430 U.S. 387, 404 (1977); see *United States v. Cash*, 47 F.3d 1083, 1088 (11th Cir. 1995) (“On direct appeal, the government bears the burden of proving the validity of the waiver.”)).

The record does not indicate that appellant unequivocally asserted his right to represent himself. In fact, during the May 2019, hearing before Judge McLeod, appellant said he did not wish to represent himself, and in the August 2019, hearing, although he first responded yes when Judge Addy asked him if he wanted to represent himself, he later said his sister was trying to find him another attorney. Appellant never insisted on representing himself. The record indicates that he was dissatisfied with the attorney he had retained and because he could not afford to retain another attorney and his other option was a court appointed attorney, appellant felt he had no other good choice.

Appellant’s waiver of his right to counsel was not knowing or voluntary because he was not sufficiently warned about the dangers inherent in self-representation by the court or otherwise. During the *Faretta* colloquy, the court advised appellant that he believed it would be a good idea for him to have an attorney and also told him he would be held to the same standard as a lawyer at trial. The court’s gentle advice was not an adequate warning of the danger of self-representation under *Faretta*.

Although a specific inquiry by the judge expressly addressing the disadvantages of a *pro se* defense is preferred, the ultimate test is not the trial judge's advice but the accused's understanding. *Wroten v. State*, 301 S.C. 293, 391 S.E.2d 575 (1990). “In the absence of an inquiry by the judge, courts look to the record to determine if the accused had sufficient

background to understand the disadvantages of self-representation.” *State v. Cash*, 309 S.C. 40, 42, 419 S.E.2d 811, 813 (Ct. App. 1992).

*Cash* provides ten factors courts have considered in determining whether the accused had sufficient background to understand the disadvantages of self-representation including:

(1) the accused's age, educational background, and physical and mental health; (2) whether the accused was previously involved in criminal trials; (3) whether he knew of the nature of the charge and of the possible penalties; (4) whether he was represented by counsel before trial or whether an attorney indicated to him the difficulty of self-representation in his particular case; (5) whether he was attempting to delay or manipulate the proceedings; (6) whether the court appointed stand-by counsel; (7) whether the accused knew he would be required to comply with the rules of procedure at trial; (8) whether he knew of legal challenges he could raise in defense to the charges against him; (9) whether the exchange between the accused and the court consisted merely of pro forma answers to pro forma questions; and (10) whether the accused's waiver resulted from either coercion or mistreatment. *Fitzpatrick v. Wainwright*, 800 F.2d 1057, 1065–1067 (11th Cir.1986); *see also Strozier v. Newsome*, 926 F.2d 1100 (11th Cir.1991) (restating the factors noted in *Fitzpatrick* ), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 930, 112 S.Ct. 350, 116 L.Ed.2d 289 (1991).

*Cash* at 43, 419 S.E.2d at 813.

There is very little evidence in the record that appellant understood the risks of proceeding *pro se*. Appellant was forty-nine at the time and had a high school education. Appellant told the court he had PTSD and took medication for anxiety and depression. In addition, prior defense counsel to appellant expressed grave concern regarding appellant's mental health and ability to assist in his own defense, much less represent himself at both hearings. The record does show that appellant had been convicted of a crime in 1999 and had been outside society and in prison for seventeen years.

The exchange between appellant and Judge Addy was short and perfunctory. Appellant never indicated verbally that he did not understand the nature of the charges against him or the possibly penalty. Nevertheless, the record reflected he and Lake had a difficult time

communicating, and therefore it was unlikely Lake was able to convey to appellant the difficulty of self-representation in his case. Moreover, after representing appellant for over a year, Lake told the judge he thought appellant needed to be represented by counsel.

Judge Addy appointed Mr. Casto as stand-by counsel for appellant but failed to inquire if appellant was aware of trial procedures other than telling him that he would be held to the same standards as a lawyer. This statement without any further explanation, respectfully, meant nothing. Appellant could not know what standard a lawyer was held to or that he would be required to comply with certain procedural and evidentiary rules without being explicitly told. Accordingly, appellant could not have understood the gravity of this decision or the disadvantages of self-representation.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing arguments, appellant's convictions should be reversed, and the case remanded to Saluda County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Sarah E. Shipe  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT