STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Dec 09 2020

Appeal from Saluda County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2019-001481

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY JAMES WILLIAMS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street
Suite 309
Lexington, SC 29072
(803)-785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge properly allow Appellant to represent himself when the trial judge advised Appellant of the dangers of self-representation and Appellant made a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary decision to represent himself, and his assertion of his right to self-representation was clear, unequivocal, and timely?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2018, a Saluda County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of threatening a public official. On August 26-28, 2019, Appellant proceeded to a trial before a jury in the Saluda County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Frank R. Addy, presiding. Appellant represented himself but had Bennett Casto, Esq. appointed as stand by counsel. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Douglas Fender of the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to five years' imprisonment. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal and an initial brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 10, 2018, Denise Yon, an employee of the Saluda County Magistrate's Office, received a phone call from the number 803-317-4381. (R. 166). The unknown caller asked to speak with Magistrate Judge Joyce Schults. (R. 166). Judge Schults was unavailable, so the unknown caller left a message with Yon for Judge Schults. Among other things, the caller asked Yon to tell Schults he wanted to 'bury her, dig her back up, dress her, paint her toenails, and have sex with her.' (R. 166, lines 11-13). After the caller hung up, Yon contacted Magistrate Judge Bruce Horn who subsequently called law enforcement. (R. 167).

Agent Brett Auckland of SLED ran the number, 803-317-4381, through a database to determine the owner of the number. Auckland's search revealed Appellant as the owner of the number. (R. 185). Auckland contacted Joshua Price of the Saluda County Sheriff's Office to convey the results of his search. Price and Lieutenant Steven Byrd went to Appellant's mother's residence in Saluda County approximately four hours after the phone call was made. (R. 191-93). Price and Byrd spoke to Appellant at his mother's residence. Appellant admitted calling the Magistrate's Office and using profane language because he was angry about a bond setting and a drug paraphernalia ticket. (R. 193). However, Appellant denied threatening Judge Schults. (R. 193). While at Appellant's mother's residence, Byrd called the number 803-317-4381. A cell phone in Appellant's pocket began to ring. (R. 193-94, 238). Price later obtained phone records for Appellant's number and verified that two calls were made from Appellant's phone to the Magistrate's Office. (R. 195-96). Additionally, Price verified that a phone call was made by Byrd's number to Appellant's phone. (R. 195-96). Appellant was placed under arrest for threatening a public official.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo.” State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018). Appellate courts review a circuit judge’s findings of fact for clear error, but the appellate court reviews “the denial of self-representation based upon those findings of fact de novo.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly allowed Appellant to represent himself because the trial judge advised Appellant of the dangers of self-representation and Appellant made a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary decision to represent himself. Furthermore, Appellant's assertion of his right to self-representation was clear, unequivocal, and timely.

Appellant contends the trial judge violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel by allowing Appellant to represent himself. Specifically, Appellant alleges the trial judge's Faretta colloquy did not contain a sufficient warning about the danger of self-representation. Accordingly, Appellant argues his waiver of counsel was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. On the contrary, the trial judge sufficiently warned Appellant of the danger of self-representation and Appellant's waiver of his right to counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Furthermore, Appellant's assertion of his right was clear, unequivocal, and timely.

A criminal defendant has a fundamental right to self-representation under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819-21 (1975). To properly assert the right of self-representation, an assertion must be "(1) clear and unequivocal, (2) knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and (3) timely." United States v. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d 553, 558 (4th Cir. 2000) (internal citations omitted).

The right to counsel is mutually exclusive of the right to self-representation. United States v. Bush, 404 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2005). "The competence that is required of a defendant seeking to waive his right to counsel is the competence to *waive the right*, not the competence to represent himself." Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 399 (1993) (emphasis in original). "Whether a defendant has intelligently waived his right to counsel depends on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused." Samuel, 422 S.C. at 603, 813 S.E.2d at 491. "The ultimate test of whether a defendant has made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel is not the

trial judge's advice, but the defendant's understanding." State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 119, 492 S.E.2d 97, 98 (1997). "Although a defendant's decision to proceed *pro se* may ultimately be to his detriment, such requests 'must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.'" Samuel, 422 S.C. at 603-604, 813 S.E.2d at 491 (quoting State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35-36, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014)).

Here the relevant exchange between Appellant and the trial judge occurred at a pre-trial hearing when Appellant was still represented by Assistant Public Defender Dietrich Lake. At the pre-trial hearing, Lake asked to be removed as Appellant's lawyer. (R. 25). The following exchange between Appellant and the trial judge took place:

The Court: [Appellant], you hear that Mr. Lake is wanting to get off the case for reasons he's expressed. How do you feel about that?

Appellant: Sir, if it pleases the Court?

The Court: Sure.

Appellant: I have a motion to relieve counsel that I would like to go on record with the Court. Also, I would like to ask that these proceedings – I need a copy of this transcript forwarded to the office of lawyer conduct and the fee board and –

The Court: Let me ask you this

Appellant: Yes.

The Court: We may be able to cut to the chase here a little bit. You have a motion to relieve Mr. Lake. Mr. Lake also wants to be relieved. So I assume that you're okay with Mr. Lake being relieved. Correct?

Appellant: Yes, sir. But I'd like to put my reasons on the record, because he and the solicitor has had they (sic) chance to talk, but ain't nobody heard from me.

(R. 29, lines 7-25- R. 30, lines 1-3). After reviewing Appellant's educational background, the following exchange occurred between Appellant and the trial judge:

The Court: Are you looking to have new counsel appointed for you because you are indigent?

Appellant: No, sir. Sir, this case, like the solicitor said, and I agree with him 100 percent, has drug on for a whole year. And the main reason is Mr. Lake...

....

The Court: Okay. [Appellant]—

Appellant: Yes, sir?

The Court: -- you are wanting to represent yourself --

Appellant: Yes, sir.

The Court: -- is what I'm hearing. Okay. You understand, [Appellant], that if you choose to represent yourself, you're held to the same standard as a lawyer? And I'm hearing that you did not go to law school. Is that right?

Appellant: No, sir, I didn't...

(R. 32, lines 14-24). After reviewing Appellant's mental health history, the trial judge again verified that Appellant wanted to represent himself in the following exchange:

The Court: But do you currently have the resources to retain another attorney?

Appellant: No, sir.

The Court: Would you like to have Mr. Casto—Mr. Bennett Casto appointed to represent you on these charges?

Appellant: Well, sir, I know it kind of seems strange because -- I mean, I would just—sir, I don't know how to put this to the Court where you can understand. Like I said, this situation has been going on for over a year now.

The Court: Right.

Appellant: And the solicitor has his stance on the case and I have my stance. All right? And I don't—I don't see a guilty verdict coming, sir, to be honest, with the evidence. So I just want him relieved, sir. I don't—I don't need another attorney, sir.

The Court: you don't need another attorney?

Appellant: No, Sir.

The Court: You realize, again, I think it's a good idea that you have a lawyer because you're going to have to follow the same procedure as a lawyer would have to follow, if you represent yourself? That's why I'm suggesting maybe it's a really good idea that I let Bennett Casto represent you.

(R. 40, lines 7-25- R. 41, lines 1-8). Appellant ultimately declined the trial judge's offer to appoint Casto to be his attorney, but begrudgingly agreed to let Casto serve as standby counsel. (R. 42-43).

Clear and Unequivocal

Here, the trial judge properly allowed Appellant to represent himself, because Appellant's request was clear and unequivocal. The trial judge asked Appellant twice if he wanted to represent himself or have another attorney appointed. First, the trial judge asked Appellant if he wanted to represent himself in the following exchange:

The Court: Okay. [Appellant]—

Appellant: Yes, sir?

The Court: -- you are wanting to represent yourself --

Appellant: Yes, sir.

The Court: -- is what I'm hearing. Okay...

(R. 32, lines 14-20). Appellant's response was clear and unequivocal that he wanted to represent himself. After warning Appellant of the danger of self-representation, the trial judge inquired whether Appellant wanted another attorney appointed. (R. 40). Appellant's response was clear and unequivocal that he did not want another attorney appointed. (R. 41). Appellant begrudgingly agreed to have Casto appointed as stand by counsel, but Appellant never waived in his desire to represent himself. (R. 42-43). Therefore, the trial judge did not err in allowing Appellant to represent himself.

Knowing, Intelligent, and Voluntary

Appellant's waiver of his right to counsel was also knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The trial judge warned Appellant that "if you choose to represent yourself, you're held to the same standard as a lawyer? And I'm hearing that you did not go to law school. Is that right?" (R. 32, lines 20-23). Appellant was undeterred by this warning and continued to insist that he wanted to represent himself. The trial judge warned Appellant of the danger of self-representation a second time when he asked the following question: "You realize, again, I think it's a good idea that you have a lawyer because you're going to have to follow the same procedure as a lawyer would have to follow, if you represent yourself?" (R. 41, lines 2-6). Appellant was undeterred again and only begrudgingly agreed to have standby counsel after the trial judge asked Appellant if he would "be comfortable with Mr. Casto simply sitting next to you; not representing you, but advising you in more of an informal capacity?" (R. 43, lines 1-4). Because Appellant decided to represent himself after two warnings by the trial judge, Appellant's decision was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary and the trial judge did not err by allowing Appellant to represent himself.

Timely

Finally, Appellant's request to represent himself was timely. Appellant moved to represent himself approximately three weeks before his trial began. Therefore, Appellant made his request before any critical stage of his trial had begun and he had ample time to prepare for trial. Because Appellant's request to represent himself was (1) clear and unequivocal, (2) knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and (3) timely, the trial judge did not err in allowing Appellant to represent himself. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.